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SUMMARY

From the mid-18" century to the mid-20™ century, Greek doctors in Smyrna collaborated
with pharmacists, churches, and the city’s Greek Orthodox community to create a state-
of-the-art health network and charitable foundation to serve physical and mental health
needs of the local community. At Graekikon Nosokomion o Agios Haralampos (Greek Saint
Charalampos Hospital), or the Greek Hospital, every citizen, regardless of origin, language,
religion, or economic status, had access to the most appropriate medical and pharmaceutical
care. Neighborhood pharmacists complemented this care by administering vaccinations and
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preparing medicines. Smyrnd’s pivotal influence on the Greek medical community ended in
August 1922, when the Greek Hospital was destroyed during the Catastrophe of Smyrna.

Keywords: Greek Hospital of Smyrna, Pharmacies of Smyrna, Hospital of Saint Charalam-
pos, George Moraitis

INTRODUCTION

As one of the most important cities of the Ottoman Empire, Smyrna had
a pivotal role in the economy of the eastern Mediterranean. After the devel-
opment of its port in the 17" century, the population in Smyrna increased
substantially. This increase had positive effects on the economy, but the
constant influx of people also contributed to outbreaks of epidemic diseas-
es, such as the plague, smallpox, and cholera. These epidemics prompted the
establishment of hospitals in the city. One of the oldest hospitals and the
first infirmary in the East was the Ospitalion, later named Graekikon Nosoko-
mion o Agios Haralampos (Greek Saint Charalampos Hospital), or simply the
Greek Hospital. The Greek Hospital also served as a charitable foundation,
operated by Smyrna’s Greek Orthodox community. Pharmacists in the area
also had crucial roles in medical care, as they manufactured and distributed
medicines. The Greek Hospital served the community for two centuries until
it was destroyed during the Catastrophe of Smyrna in August 1922 (Dardalis,

2005; Vladimiros, 2008).

Tue GREEK HOSPITAL

Despite its importance to the Ottoman Empire, Smyrna received little
support for its health care. Various Christian communities in Smyrna thus
founded and operated hospitals using contributions from wealthy citizens.
First, the Dutch Hospital was founded in 1673, followed by the Catholic Hos-
pital in 1710. When the Greek Hospital opened in 17723, it was the largest and
the finest hospital in the area (Argiropoulos, 1995; Kostis, 190s). In addition to
these, the English, and the French, also had their hospitals in Smyrna (Atay,
1978).

The house of Baroness Clara Catharina de Hochepied (1662-1733), a local
widow known as Madame, was bought by the Greek community and convert-
ed into a hospital (later known as the Greek Hospital). During its first years of
operation, the hospital was referred to as “the Inn” (Figures 1, 2) (Argiropou-
los, 1995; Solomonidis, 1955). The operating expenses of the hospital were cov-

ered by the Greek community. In 1745, the financial difficulties of the Greek
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community led to the formation of the Brotherhood, led by the then Met-
ropolitan of Smyrna Neophytos. Neophytos asked Christians to financially
support the hospital, and many expatriates donated money. In particular, two
merchants from Chios, loannis Mavrokordatos and Pantelis Sevastopoulos,
financed a large renovation in 1748. Sevastopoulos was named a benefactor
for his donations. After the renovation, the hospital was renamed Graekikon
(Argiropoulos, 1995).

It is worth noting that the notion of charity in western Europe was inex-
tricably linked to Ottoman cities like Smyrna. According to Alexander and
Laiou, the “merchants of Europe” were involved in funding and managing

the Orthodox hospitals in Istanbul and other Ottoman cities like Smyrna
(Alexander & Laiou, 2014).

- SOUVENIR
L4 indlriawr da 1* Hipttl adhadaas & Begrae B ORIENT.

Figure 1. The Greek Saint Charalampos Hospital.

Source: Levantine Heritage Foundation.

In March 1797, the Greek hospital was destroyed in a fire during the Re-
bellion of Janissaries in Smyrna. Donations from Smyrna residents financed
the new building, which included a courtyard providing a green space for
them to enjoy, a laboratory, and specialized departments for treating patients
with infectious diseases, the elderly, and the mentally ill. Treating the men-
tally ill as patients rather than criminals was an important advancement in
the history of Greek medicine in Smyrna and around the world. According
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to the literature, a separate building for the care of the mentally ill was es-
tablished in 1882 (Vladimiros, 2008). In 1833, the church of Saint Charalam-
pos was erected in the Greek Hospital’s courtyard. Charalampos was an ear-
ly Christian priest who was martyred in 202. He was condemned to death,
at which time he prayed to God that the people living near his relics would
never suffer famine or disease. His relics can be found throughout Greece,
including Smyrna. Saint Charalampos protected the people of Smyrna from
the plague (Argiropoulos, 1995; Clogg, 1982; Karadimou-Gerolympou, 2000;
Simopoulos, 1975).
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Figure 2. The Greek Saint Charalampos Hospital.
Source: Levantine Heritage Foundation.

In 1893, a cholera outbreak was recorded in Smyrna. The Greek Hospital
provided antiseptics for the disinfection of the houses and the grocery stores.
In 1910, during another outbreak of the disease, the Greeks of Smyrna formed
the “Solidarity Association”, and with the assistance of the Greek Hospital,
they established a first aid station inside the hospital (Solomonidis, 1953).

As the Greek Hospital grew in reputation and size, it adopted the latest
technical advances in medical science. For example, the psychiatric depart-
ment added a hydrotherapy clinic in 1882 at the cost of 2,000 gold pounds.
Hydrotherapy was a new therapeutic method for the treatment of mental
illness in Europe. In 1902, a foundling annex was added to care for aban-
doned infants. Prior to the establishment of the nursery, it was customary
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throughout Europe to give abandoned children to poor families, who would
then raise them as their own, with financial support from the community.
However, these children often became victims of neglect (Vladimiros, 2008).
Hospital-based infant and childcare, financed by the city of Smyrna and its
wealthy citizens, helped address this social problem. Medical supervision was
provided by hospital doctors who offered their services for free (Vladimiros,
2008). During its first year of operation, the nursey housed 53 children, from
newborns to 6-year-olds. By 1904, the nursery provided care to 73 children,
and by 1905, more than go children were in its care (Anonymous, 1907). A mi-
crobiological laboratory, radiological department, and radiological machine

were acquired in 1911 (Haviara-Karahaliou, 2003).

Several publications in Greece and throughout Europe reported on the
operation and success of the Greek Hospital, which served as a model for
medical science throughout lonia. People from all over Greece sought treat-
ment there, as well as Turks, Armenians, Jews, and Catholics from other geo-
graphical regions (Vladimiros, 2008). In accordance with the mission of the
Orthodox Church and the Brotherhood of Smyrna, all were accepted at the
hospital for treatment. As the inscription on the hospital’s main door read,
“Knock, and it shall be opened unto you.” From 1902 to 1903, as an example of a
typical year of operation, the hospital treated 2,29 patients and distributed
free medicine to 11,802 people. The outpatient department performed be-

tween 60 and 70 wound treatments per day (Anonymous, 1907).

The leader of the ecclesiastical province, the Metropolitan of Smyrna,
served as president of the hospital. The city of Smyrna financially supported
its operations, mostly from wealthy citizens’ donations. Other contributions
came from fundraisers, lotteries, social events, real estate donations, corpo-
rate donations, and financial contributions from doctors. Wealthy citizens
often named the hospital and education institutions of the community as
beneficiaries in their wills. Donations from the poor also contributed to the

hospital’s financing (Tatakis, 1948).

By 1922, the hospital had acquired surgical, internal medicine, obstetrics,
ophthalmology, infectious diseases, psychiatry, and nursery departments,
along with microbiology and radiology laboratories. The last directors of the
various departments of the hospital were Apostolos Psaltof (Figure 3) and
Diogenes Nikolaidis (women’s surgery), Alkiviades Doulgeridis and Kon-
stantinos Konstantinidis (men’s surgery), Stylianos Voronzeris (women’s

internal medicine), Panos Chronis (ophthalmology), Demetrios Stais (obstet-
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rics), loannis Hariatis (microbiology laboratory), Nikolaos Benakis (infectious

diseases), and Solon Veras (foundling) (Vladimiros, 2008).

Figure 3. Greek commemorative bronze medal. Obverse: Bust of Apos-
tolos Psaltof to left. Theinscription: ATTOZT. YAATQ® XEIPOYPI'Q OI
SYNAAEA®OI KAI ®IAOI ©AYMAXTAL 1886-1911 (translation: For Apos-
tolos Psaltof surgeon, the colleagues, friends, and fans 1886-1911). Under
the bust the name of the die-cutter, [1. PENIEPHZ (P. Renieris). Reverse:
Depicted is the Greek hospital in Smyrna with its gardens. The inscription:
EAAHNIKON NOZOKOMEION ZMYPNHZX O ATIOZ XAPAAAMITOZ
(translation: The Greek hospital of Smyrna, Saint Charalampos).

When the Greek Hospital was burnt down during the Catastrophe of
Smyrna in 1922by the Turks, Director Michalis Isaias transferred the patients
safely to the Dutch hospital. The locking of the hospital, prior to its destruc-
tion, represented an act symbolizing the end of the Greek cultural presence

in Smyrna.

THE GREEK PHARMACIES OF SMYRNA

During the first half of the 1gth century in Smyrna, there was much over-
lap in the duties of the physician, the drug maker, and the drug seller. Few
doctors had private consulting offices; some doctors owned pharmacies, but
many more were ‘linked’ to specific pharmacies where patients knew they
would find them. This pattern was also present on Chios Island in the early
decades of the 20th century (Michailidis, 2002).
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Pharmacies in Smyrna also served as a place for doctors and scholars to
discuss various social, literary, and philosophical topics. Smyrna’s pharma-
cists and doctors were esteemed for their scientific expertise, social contribu-
tions, and formal studies at universities in Italy, France, Germany, and Aus-
tria. Diary entries of that time described the pharmacy as a “doctor’s meeting
place”. One of the most famous of these was Dimitrios Argiropoulos’ phar-
macy, where prominent Greeks, such as Marinos Koutouvalis, Georgios La-
tris, Michail Tsakiroglou, and Miltiades Emmanouil, met to discuss political,
scientific, literary, and social topics (Vladimiros, 2008).

Patients often visited the pharmacy that their doctor frequented to have a
consultation. If the doctor was absent or the patient could not get out of the
house, they left a note, and the examination was carried out at home. In some
pharmacies where a lot of doctors provided their services, they made sure to
arrange the time slots, so that there was always a doctor in the pharmacy to
help the patients (Vladimiros, 2008).

An 1825 document lists the refugees that arrived in Nafplio during the
Greek Revolution, including their names, professions, and places of origin.
This list mentions Vasilios Dragonieus and Charalampos Sardinalopoulos as
two pharmacists from Smyrna (Anastasiadis, 1961). A professional guide of
Smyrna in 1875 lists 33 pharmacies, of which 24 belong to Greeks. Each phar-
macy lists the doctor who provides services there. An 1896 ad for Koutsaftopou-
los pharmacy lists 15 physicians available to examine patients. A 1920 trade
guide from Smyrna lists 66 pharmacies in the city, of which at least 33 appear
to have been owned by a Greek, as indicated by the name of the pharmacist.

As the field of microbiology began to develop in the late 19th century,
pharmacists and other scientists began conducting various hematological,
biochemical, and microbiological testing. For example, the historian Socrates
Prokopiou mentions the chemist and microbiologist, Tasos Argiropoulos.

Some of the well-known pharmacists were Dimitrios Konstantinidis,
Konstantinos Koutsautopoulos, Stefanos Stais, Konstantinos Georgiadis,
Dimitrios Argiropoulos, and Nikolaos Argiropoulos (Anastasiadis, 1940;
Vladimiros, 2008). As mentioned above, several doctors in Smyrna also op-
erated a pharmacy; Galinos Klados, Themistocles Saverios, Georgios loan-
nidis, Themistocles latros, and Christodoulos Koutouzis, provided vaccina-
tions, basic surgeries, and first aid treatments either at the pharmacy or in
the patients’ homes. The School of Medicine at the National University of
Athens trained many doctors and pharmacists from Smyrna, including Kon-
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stantinos Katakouzinos, its first graduate pharmacist in 1867. Dimitrios Kon-
stantinidis followed in 1884 and Nikolaos Argiropoulos in 1889 (Vladimiros,
2008).

George Moraitis’ pharmacy is a special case. Moraitis was born in Skiathos
in 1873. He studied medicine in Constantinople and received his diploma in
1895. He settled in Smyrna and worked for a short time in the pharmacy of Pa-
nagiotis Chionis. He was Chief Pharmacist at the Ottoman Hospital in Smyr-
na and curator at the Greek Hospital. In 1897, he bought the Bee (Méhoow)
pharmacy, which was owned by Sklavos, and renamed it to Moraitis Pharma-
cy. The three-story pharmacy employed 120 people and had special depart-
ments for medicines and medical equipment, dental and surgical supplies,
cosmetics, perfumes, furniture, corsets, and herbs, as well as chemical and
microbiological laboratories. In 1919, he organized a publicly funded food dis-
pensary for the poor with Apostolos Psaltof, Dimitrios loakimidis, and Soc-
rates Solomonidis. Moraitis Pharmacy was destroyed during the Catastrophe
of Smyrna in 1922. Moraitis then built a similar pharmacy in Alexandria,

Egypt, where he died in 1953. (Figure 4)

Figure 4. The pharmacy of George Moraitis. Credits: Vladimiros L. The
History of Greek Medicine in Smyrna [in Greek] (Athens: The Association of
Smyrnaeans, 2008).
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In 1909, the pharmacists of Smyrna founded the Pharmaceutical Asso-
ciation of the Smyrnaeans. In 1915, the only Turkish pharmacist in Smyrna
demanded that the association’s proceedings be written in Turkish. Numer-
ous Greek pharmacists in Smyrna denied this request, and the association
disbanded (Solomonidis, 1955).

As medicine became further specialized at the turn of the century, phy-
sicians gradually switched to using their own private consulting rooms with
the necessary tools for examining patients. Paraclinical exams continued to
be performed at pharmacies in Smyrna until 1922.

CONCLUSION

The wealthy Greeks of Smyrna helped develop vital health infrastruc-
tures, such as hospitals and pharmacies. Among the most important health
institutions was the Greek Hospital of Saint Charalampos. Pharmacists and
doctors collaborated closely to provide fast and efficient health services. To-
gether, these professionals played crucial roles in setting a basis for the mod-
ern health care systems in the context of interdisciplinary collaboration.
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SAZETAK

Od sredine 18. do sredine 20. stoljeéa greki lijecnici u Smirni suradivali su s farmaceuti-
ma, crkvama i gradskom grékom pravoslavnom zajednicom kako bi stvorili najsuvremeniju
zdravstvenu mrezu i dobrotvornu zakladu koja ée sluziti fizickim i mentalnim zdravstvenim
potrebama lokalne zajednice. U Graekikon Nosokomion o Agios Haralampos (gréka bol-
nica Saint Charalampos), ili Grekoj bolnici, svaki je gradanin imao pristup najprikladnijoj
medicinskoj i farmaceutskoj skrbi bez obzira na podrijetlo, jezik, vjeru ili ekonomski status.
Farmaceuti u kvartovima nadopunili su tu skrb cijepljenjem i pripremanjem lijekova. Kljué-
ni utjecaj Smirne na gréku medicinsku zajednicu zavrsio je u kolovozu 1922. kada je gréka
bolnica unistena tijekom katastrofe u Smirni.

Kljuéne rijeci: gréka bolnica u Smirni, liekarne u Smirni, bolnica Saint Charalampos,
George Moraitis
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